**RECEIVED**

**May 02 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-001599

---

Full Moon Investments, LLC; Stellar Naomi, a series of Yield  
Capital, LLC; and John David Engel, ..... Respondents,

v.

Campbell Teague, LLC; George A. Campbell, Jr.; Elizabeth Teague;  
Emily O'Brian; Molly Cash; and Beau Brogdon, ..... Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

R. Bruce Wallace, SC Bar No. 11653  
Rhett D. Ricard, SC Bar No. 102353  
Alexandra H. Austin, SC Bar No. 102646  
MAYNARD NEXSEN, PC

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

Respondents sued Appellants in the Court of Common Pleas, asserting three causes of action: legal malpractice, breach of fiduciary duty, and defamation *per se*. Respondents attached to the Complaint several agreements between Respondents and Appellants or their wholly owned entity, and the agreements provided for arbitration of all claims arising out of, or in connection with, or relating to the agreements. Appellants filed a motion to compel arbitration and a motion to dismiss. The Circuit Court, the Honorable Perry Gravely presiding, denied the motion to compel arbitration and granted the motion to dismiss in part.<sup>1</sup> Appellants filed a timely motion to alter or amend pursuant to Rule 59 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Judge Gravely denied that motion as well. The question presented is whether the Circuit Court should have compelled Respondents to arbitrate their claims in accord with the arbitration clauses in the agreements attached to the Complaint. In particular,

- A.** Whether Respondents are bound to arbitrate all claims covered by the arbitration agreements.
- B.** Whether Appellants can enforce the arbitration agreements against Respondents.
- C.** Whether Respondents' claims are within the scope of the broad arbitration agreements.
- D.** Whether the Circuit Court lacked jurisdiction to decide issues of substantive arbitrability.

---

<sup>1</sup> The Court's Order dismissing Plaintiffs' cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty has not been appealed.

## **INTRODUCTION**

Respondents, John David Engel (“Engel”) and his wholly-owned or wholly-controlled entities, purchased a Spanish company to acquire a bankrupt rose business in Spain, financed by private investment from the United States. Engel drafted the private placement memorandum and other agreements relative to the investment and associated transactions. Engel hired Appellant George A. Campbell (“Campbell”), and his law firm, Campbell Teague, LLC (“Campbell Teague”), to review the agreements and related documents Engel had drafted. With Engel’s agreement, the individual Appellants invested in Respondent Stellar Naomi, through a combination of deferred legal fees and cash. As part of the deal, Campbell was to serve as President of the Spanish company and move his family to Spain. After almost a year of operating the Spanish Company, Engel terminated Campbell as an employee and director of the Spanish entity, and Campbell Teague withdrew as attorneys for Respondents.

The relevant agreements, admittedly drafted by Engel, contain broad and inclusive arbitration provisions, covering all claims arising out of or related to the investment or associated transactions. In this action, Respondents claim that Appellants improperly invested in Stellar Naomi, in violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct, and that Campbell improperly used his position as a director of the Spanish Company owned by Stellar Naomi. The gravamen of Respondents’ claims against Appellants arises from two sources: (1) Appellants’ allegedly wrongful investment in Stellar Naomi, and (2) Campbell’s management of the Spanish company. The agreements at issue containing the arbitration provisions specifically govern investment in Stellar Naomi and

management of the Spanish company. As a result, Respondents' claims directly relate to those agreements and should be arbitrated.

The Circuit Court, however, refused to compel arbitration, ruling the Appellants were not parties to the agreement and the arbitration provisions did not relate to the issues raised in the pleadings. The Circuit Court also impliedly ruled that the court, rather than the arbitrator, should decide issues of substantive arbitrability. This was error. The record clearly demonstrates that the parties intended to be bound by the agreements, and that disputes related to the investment or associated transactions would be subject to the agreements' arbitration provisions. Appellants may enforce the arbitration provisions against Respondents, who are signatories to those agreements. Moreover, because the agreements contain a delegation clause, the Circuit Court was precluded from ruling on such substantive arbitrability issues.

This Court should reverse the order under appeal and remand with instructions to compel arbitration.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Factual Background

All of the facts and claims alleged in the Complaint arise out of an investment in a Spanish company owned by Respondent Stellar Naomi: Ondara Directorship SLU (“Ondara”). Respondent Engel manages Stellar Naomi. (R. p. 14, ¶ 39). Engel is a founder and managing partner of “an investment company focused on cannabis related ventures.” (R. p. 29). Engel “has completed dozens of debt and equity capital engagements totaling in excess of \$300,000,000 in a variety of industries.” *Id.* Engel’s sophistication—demonstrated by his actions, the investment as it is described in the record, and in the documents themselves—is important and highly relevant to the application of the arbitration clause.

Sometime in 2020, Respondents Full Moon Investments, LLC (“Full Moon”) and Engel, its manager, learned of an investment in Spain. Specifically, they learned about an opportunity buy a bankrupt Spanish company, Aleia Roses, which cultivated roses in a 36-acre greenhouse in Spain. (R. p. 11, ¶ 15). Aleia Roses declared bankruptcy in Spain. (R. p. 11, ¶ 16). Aleia Roses owned land, equipment, and a 36-acre greenhouse. (R. p. 11, ¶ 15). Full Moon and Engel decided to buy the assets of Aleia Roses. (R. p. 11, ¶ 19). To raise money for the project, Engel formed Yield Capital, LLC (“Yield Capital”), a series limited liability company, and Respondent Stellar Naomi, a series of Yield Capital (“Stellar Naomi”). (R. p. 11, ¶ 20; R. p. 615, lines 4-21). Respondents were going to raise money by way of a private placement memorandum. (R. p. 12, ¶¶ 21, 25).

To assist with soliciting funds from investors, Engel and a “Spanish gentlemen” prepared all the documents. (R. pp. 620-621). Full Moon retained Appellants to represent

Full Moon in the “Aleia Roses Transaction”. (R. p. 11, ¶ 19). When asked about the Stellar Naomi deal, Engel testified Appellants “did cursory review *after [Engel] prepared everything...*” (R. p. 618, lines 6-12) (emphasis added.) Asked to specify the work Appellants were hired to perform, Engel testified Appellants only “reviewed the documents for typos, inconsistencies, that kind of thing...” (R. p. 621, lines 20-23). Engel directly contradicts himself in the Complaint, alleging that Appellants drafted the relevant documents. (R. p. 12, ¶ 24).

Engel managed Full Moon, Yield Capital, and Stellar Naomi. (R. p. 14, ¶ 39). Yield Capital then sold membership interests in Stellar Naomi via the Private Placement Memorandum (“PPM”) to investors. (R. p. 12, ¶ 21.) As the PPM states, Yield Capital would be governed by its Operating Agreement. (R. p. 33). Each series, like Stellar Naomi, would in turn have its own Series Agreement, which incorporates the Yield Capital Operating Agreement. *Id.*

Respondents provided a supplemental PPM specifically for Stellar Naomi dated June 23, 2020. (R. p. 56). Respondents planned to invest up to \$5.75 million equity in the purchase of Aleia Roses. (R. p. 61). Respondents planned to use Stellar Naomi to purchase Ondara as the Spanish shell company with which to bid for Aleia Roses in the bankruptcy sale. (R. p. 12, ¶ 25; R. p. 56). The global law firm of Herbert Smith Freehills represented Respondents in Spain. (R. p. 64). The PPM warns potential investors their investment “is subject to significant risks, including possible loss of [the] entire investment.” (R. p. 34).

Respondents requested a minimum investment of \$100,000 per investor. (R. p. 33). In all, Respondents allegedly raised \$29 million dollars for Stellar Naomi to invest in

the Aleia Roses Transaction. (R. p. 12, ¶ 26). Engel had the discretion to close the offering whenever he chose. (R. p. 41).

Soria, a series of Belltower, LLC (“Soria”), invested in Stellar Naomi. (R. p. 12, ¶ 28). The individual Appellants are members of Soria. (R. p. 13, ¶ 31). Soria invested \$150,000 in, and is a member of, Stellar Naomi. (R. p. 12, ¶¶ 28-29; R. pp. 185-186). Engel signed Yield Capital’s Operating Agreement on July 20, 2020. (R. p. 150). Campbell counter-signed the Operating Agreement on behalf of Soria. (R. p. 13, ¶ 30; R. p. 151). Engel signed the Stellar Naomi Series Agreement on July 20, 2020. (R. p. 172). Campbell counter-signed the Stellar Naomi Series Agreement on behalf of Soria. (R. p. 173). Engel signed the Stellar Naomi Subscription Agreement July 20, 2020 (R. p. 190). Campbell also signed the Stellar Naomi Subscription Agreement July 20, 2020. (R. p. 186).

Respondents successfully bid on the assets of Aleia Roses. (R. p. 12, ¶ 25). To effectuate the acquisition stated above, Stellar Naomi had acquired Ondara to serve as a special purpose vehicle in Spain to make the bankruptcy bid and acquire all the assets of Aleia Roses SLU, which included the purchase of land, equipment, and a thirty-six-acre greenhouse. *Id.* As late as May 2021, Engel told Campbell that Stellar Naomi owned all of Ondara. (R. p. 224). Later, Engel testified that Full Moon actually owned Ondara; that Ondara was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Full Moon Investments; that Stellar Naomi never owned Ondara; and that Engel held Ondara in “constructive trust”. (R. p. 616, line 22 – p. 617, line 22).

Campbell and Engel agreed in 2020 that Campbell would move to Spain to operate Ondara as its President. (R. pp. 13-14, ¶¶ 35-36). To assist Campbell’s “international

move,” Engel, on behalf of Full Moon, signed a letter stating Campbell was an investor and legal representative of Full Moon Investments. (R. p. 14, ¶36).

Later in 2021, Engel transferred ownership of the greenhouse—the main asset of Ondara—to Spain Real Estate Capital, LLC (“SREC”). (R. pp. 217-219; R. p. 240; R. p. 245). Engel owns all of SREC. (R. p. 240). The sale of the greenhouse to SREC left Ondara insolvent. (R. p. 226, ¶ 11; R. p. 227, ¶¶ 15-16). SREC in turn defaulted on its purchase obligations to Ondara. (R. p. 229, ¶ D). This left Ondara without any assets and a large amount of debt. (R. p. 247) (“ONDARA's only asset has disappeared...”) (R. pp. 249-250.) Despite Engel’s representation that Stellar Naomi owned Ondara and through Ondara the greenhouse, Engel *never transferred either* to Stellar Naomi. Contrary to his prior representation, Engel has asserted Stellar Naomi never owned Ondara.<sup>2</sup> (R. p. 617, lines 8-22).

As a result of Engel’s actions, on August 24, 2021, Defendant Elizabeth Teague (“Teague”) wrote Engel informing him that an irreparable conflict had arisen requiring Campbell Teague to withdraw from representing Engel and his related business entities. (R. p. 15, ¶ 44; R. p. 222). On September 27, 2021, Soria filed an arbitration demand with the American Arbitration Association against Stellar Naomi seeking an accounting (the “Soria/Stellar Naomi Arbitration”). (R. p. 15, ¶ 47). And, on October 13, 2021, the joint administrators of Ondara, including Campbell, were forced to file a criminal complaint in Spain against Engel. (R. pp. 15-16, ¶ 49). Engel terminated Campbell as the director of Ondara. (R. p. 15, ¶ 45).

---

<sup>2</sup> Because Stellar Naomi never owned Ondara, as conceded by Respondent Engel under oath, the \$29 million allegedly raised for Stellar Naomi went somewhere unknown to Appellants.

At the time Respondents filed the Complaint, the arbitration between Soria and Stellar Naomi was pending, and is referenced in Respondents' Complaint. (R. p. 13, ¶ 30; R. pp. 194-198). The arbitrator, the Honorable Robert N. Hunter, Jr., rendered a decision on August 30, 2023, finding Soria was a member of Stellar Naomi and entitled to an accounting. (R. pp. 596-604; R. pp. 585-595).

Respondents filed this lawsuit on March 30, 2023, alleging Campbell committed defamation *per se* against Engel in connection with statements pertaining to the criminal acts at issue in the criminal complaint. (R. p. 16, ¶ 52). Specifically, Respondents allege Campbell, while a director for Ondara, the wholly owned subsidiary of Full Moon, defamed Engel in Engel's management of Ondara and Stellar Naomi. (R. p. 16, ¶ 52; R. pp. 259-266). Respondents also allege that Appellants committed legal malpractice and breached their fiduciary duties by entering into a business transaction with and "[investing] in their client, Stellar Naomi via Soria." (R. p. 15, ¶ 48; R. p. 18, ¶ 60; R. p. 19, ¶ 64). It is undisputed that the individual Appellants are members of Soria, and that Soria is a member of Stellar Naomi. In fact, the Appellants' investment in Stellar Naomi forms the basis for most of Respondents' claims against Appellants, to wit:

- "Defendants created Soria ... to invest in Stellar Naomi." (R. p. 12, (¶ 28).
- "The members and equity owners of Soria are Campbell, Teague, O'Brian, Cash, and Brogdon...." (R. p. 13, ¶ 31).
- "Campbell, with his family, moved to Spain to operate Stellar Naomi's wholly owned Spanish entity Ondara...". (R. pp. 13-14, ¶ 35).

- “Campbell Teague attorney ‘investors’ (Campbell, Teague, O’Brian, Cash, and Brogdon) violated the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct when they invested in their client, Stellar Naomi via Soria”. (R. p. 15, ¶ 48).

Similarly, Respondents’ expert William O. Higgins opines that

Defendants ... [were required] to fully disclose to the Plaintiffs the extent of the existing conflict of interest in ... (b) entering into a business transaction with the Plaintiffs in connection with the Aleia Roses Transaction by investing in the Plaintiff, Stellar Naomi, through their wholly owned Delaware limited liability company, Soria.... (R. pp. 268-269, ¶ 8(i)(b).

and

Defendant George A. Campbell, Jr. ... engaged in various negligent acts and omissions ... including the following: ... [e]ntering into a business transaction with Plaintiff, Stellar Naomi, through Soria.... (R. p. 269, ¶ 9.c.).

In short, this Court cannot divorce the Respondents’ claims from the Appellants’ investment in Stellar Naomi.

The document governing the transaction the Complaint alleges as a basis for this lawsuit is the Stellar Naomi Series Agreement for Yield Capital (the “Series Agreement”) and the Operating Agreement for Yield Capital. (R. pp. 166-178; pp. 123-165). The Series Agreement provides that the Limited Liability Company Agreement of Yield Capital (the “Master Agreement”) controls the affairs of Stellar Naomi unless contradicted by the Series Agreement, which is also expressly incorporated into the Master Agreement. (R. p. 169, § 1.3) (“[a]ny subject matter not covered in this STELLAR NAOMI Series Agreement shall be governed by the Master Agreement and the [Delaware Uniform Limited Liability Company Act]”).) Section 12.6 of the Master Agreement provides, in relevant part:

SECTION 12.6 Arbitration. ANY DISPUTE, CONTROVERSY OR CLAIM, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION ANY DISPUTES FOR WHICH A DERIVATIVE SUIT COULD OTHERWISE BE BROUGHT PURSUANT TO THE [DELAWARE UNIFORM LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY ACT], ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH, OR RELATING TO, THIS AGREEMENT ANY BREACH OR ALLEGED BREACH HEREOF SHALL, UPON THE REQUEST OF ANY PARTY INVOLVED, BE SUBMITTED TO, AND SETTLED BY, ARBITRATION IN THE CITY OF GREENVILLE, STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, PURSUANT TO THE COMMERCIAL ARBITRATION RULES THEN IN EFFECT OF THE AMERICAN ARBITRATION ASSOCIATION (OR AT ANY TIME OR AT ANY OTHER PLACE OR UNDER ANY OTHER FORM OF ARBITRATION MUTUALLY ACCEPTABLE TO THE PARTIES SO INVOLVED). ANY AWARD RENDERED SHALL BE FINAL AND CONCLUSIVE UPON THE PARTIES AND A JUDGMENT THEREON MAY BE ENTERED IN THE HIGHEST COURT OF THE FORUM, STATE OR FEDERAL, HAVING JURISDICTION.

(R. p. 147). The Series Agreement was made an exhibit to, and is specifically incorporated by reference into, the Master Agreement. (R. p. 126; R. p. 153). Section 3.8 of the Series Agreement further provides that each party thereto “irrevocably consents ... to the enforcement of an arbitrator’s ruling under Section 12.6 of the Master Agreement ....” (R. p. 170). Both the Master Agreement and Series Agreement are signed by Engel, as the manager of Full Moon, by Engel on behalf of Full Moon, as the manager of Yield Capital, and by Campbell, as the managing member of Soria. (R. pp. 150-151; R. pp. 172-173).

The Stellar Naomi Subscription Agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to which Soria obtained its equity membership interest in Stellar Naomi, also incorporates by reference the Master Agreement and Series Agreement, and is signed by Engel as the managing partner of Full Moon, and by Campbell as the managing member of Soria. (R. p. 180; R. p. 186; R. p. 190). The Master Agreement, Series

Agreement, and Subscription Agreement are referred to herein collectively as the “Agreements.” Delaware law governs all of the Agreements. (R. pp. 147-148, § 12.11; R. p. 170, § 3.8; R. p. 184, § 10).

### **B. Procedural History**

Respondents filed their Complaint March 30, 2023. The Complaint alleges claims for legal malpractice, breach of fiduciary duty, and defamation. Appellants filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration and to stay on April 18, 2023. Appellants also filed a Motion to Dismiss. The Circuit Court conducted a hearing on the Motions on August 21, 2023. The Circuit thereafter denied the Motion to Compel Arbitration by Order dated August 29, 2023. The Court granted in part the Motion to Dismiss, dismissing the cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty.<sup>3</sup> Appellants filed a Motion to Alter or Amend on September 6, 2023. The Court, without a hearing, denied the Motion to Alter or Amend by Order dated October 9, 2023. (R. p.4). Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal October 18, 2023.

---

<sup>3</sup> Respondents have not appealed the portion of the Order denying the remainder of the Motion to Dismiss.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“Arbitrability determinations are subject to de novo review.” *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 22, 644 S.E.2d 663, 667 (2007) (citing *Wellman, Inc. v. Square D Co.*, 366 S.C. 61, 67, 620 S.E.2d 86, 89 (Ct. App. 2005)). Factual findings “will not be overruled if there is any evidence reasonably supporting them.” *Liberty Builders, Inc. v. Horton*, 336 S.C. 658, 664-65, 521 S.E.2d 749, 753 (Ct. App. 1999). It does not appear the Circuit made any findings of fact in its brief order, so there are no findings of fact requiring deference from this Court.

## **ARGUMENT**

As an initial matter, and although not addressed by the Circuit Court, the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) applies to the arbitration Agreements. The Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) applies in state or federal court to any arbitration agreement involving interstate commerce, unless the parties contract otherwise. *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 538, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363 (2001). The FAA applies here because the Agreements and transactions at issue clearly involve interstate commerce. The FAA provides that an arbitration provision in “a contract evidencing a transaction involving [interstate] commerce ... shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.” 9 U.S.C. § 2. See also *Munoz*, 343 S.C. 531 at 538, 542 S.E.2d at 363 (holding that the FAA applies to “a transaction that in fact involves interstate commerce, regardless of whether or not the parties contemplated an interstate transaction”). “A party seeking to compel arbitration under the FAA must establish that (1) there is a valid agreement, and (2) the claims fall within the scope of the agreement.” *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 336, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172-73 (2019).

Respondents did not dispute the validity of the Agreements—and, indeed, attached executed copies of the Agreements as exhibits to their Complaint—rather, they argued that: (1) the parties did not intend to arbitrate the claims in this lawsuit; (2) the claims in this lawsuit are not within the scope of the Agreements’ arbitration provisions; and (3) if the Agreements require arbitration of malpractice claims, then they are unconscionable under Rule 1.8 of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct. The Circuit Court ruled that Appellants could not compel arbitration of Respondents’ claims

because none of the Appellants were “actual parties” to the Master Agreement and that the arbitration provisions in the Master Agreement did not relate to the issues presented by the pleadings. (R. p. 2).

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