RECEIVED

May 02 2024

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2023-CP-23-01567
Appellate Case No.: 2023-001599

Full Moon Investments, LLC; Stellar Naomi, a series of Yield
Capital, LLC; and John David Engel,

Respondents,

vs.

Campbell Teague, LLC; George A. Campbell, Jr.; Elizabeth
Teague; Emily O'Brian; Molly Cash; and Beau Brogdon,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

BLAND RICHTER, LLP
Attorneys for Respondents

Ronald L. Richter, Jr., SC Bar No. 66377
Scott M. Mongillo, SC Bar No. 16574
18 Broad Street, Mezzanine Level

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

ARGUMENT

1. There was never an agreement to arbitrate the Respondents' claims.

The agreement that gives rise to these claims is the agreement between the Appellants and Respondents to provide legal services. The agreement consists of a single email and a subsequent course of conduct. The agreement contains no arbitration provision. It is axiomatic that to compel a party into arbitration there must first be an agreement between the parties to arbitrate. The Circuit Court has correctly found that no such agreement existed between the parties to the appeal. “Although arbitration is viewed favorably by the courts, it is predicated on an agreement to arbitrate because parties are waiving their fundamental right to access to the courts.” *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 337, 827 S.E.2d 167, 173 (2019). “Even though arbitration has a favored place, there still must be ***an underlying agreement between the parties to arbitrate.***” Emphasis supplied and see *Arrants v. Buck*, 130 F.3d 636, 640 (4th Cir. 1997). “Arbitration is a matter of contract, and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed to submit.” *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001). “Moreover, because arbitration, while favored, exists solely by agreement of the parties, a presumption *against* arbitration arises where the party resisting arbitration is a nonsignatory to the written agreement to arbitrate.” *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 337-38, 827 S.E.2d at 173.

Here, the Appellants did not take the time to draft a formal engagement letter with their clients, nor did they even attempt to draft an arbitration provision that would compel disputes between themselves and their clients arising out of their attorney-client relationship into arbitration. Instead, the Appellants urge the Court that it is the arbitration provision of the Subscription Agreement between Soria (a non-party owned and managed by Appellant Campbell) and Yield Capital (a non-party owned and managed by Full Moon) that covers the Respondents' claims of legal malpractice and defamation, even though none of the parties to the present action are parties to the Subscription Agreement and

even though the malpractice contends in large part that the Subscription Agreement itself is the byproduct of the malpractice. The Appellants are wrong.

First, the Subscription Agreement itself does not contain the bold and capitalized notices required by the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act and clearly does not comply with its technical requirements. In an apparent recognition of this fact, the Appellants argue instead that the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) controls. To that point, the Appellants suggest that the question of arbitrability under the FAA is a question for the arbitrator. Again, they are mistaken. The FAA presumes parties intend that the court, rather than an arbitrator, will decide "gateway" issues related to arbitration, including whether the arbitration agreement is valid and enforceable and whether it covers the parties' dispute. See *First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan*, 514 U.S. 938, 944, 115 S. Ct. 1920, 131 L. Ed. 2d 985 (1995). The parties may, of course, delegate these gateway issues to an arbitrator as long as there is "clear and unmistakable" evidence of such delegation. *Id.* at 944-45; *Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc.*, 139 S. Ct. 524, 530, 202 L. Ed. 2d 480 (2019); *AT&T Techs., Inc. v. Commc'ns Workers of Am.*, 475 U.S. 643, 649, 106 S. Ct. 1415, 89 L. Ed. 2d 648 (1986). If such a delegation occurred, the court still retains the right and duty to determine whether the delegation is valid and enforceable as long as the party resisting arbitration has made a direct and discrete challenge to the validity and enforceability of the delegation clause specifically, rather than the arbitration agreement as a whole. See *Rent-A-Center, West, Inc. v. Jackson*, 561 U.S. 63, 68, 130 S. Ct. 2772, 177 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2010). The record here is absent any “clear and unmistakable” evidence of a delegation of the arbitrability question to the arbitrator. The question was properly before Judge Gravely, who correctly found as a matter of fact that the parties to the appeal were not parties to the arbitration agreement and that the arbitration agreement did not embrace the matters complained of in the Complaint.

Although Judge Gravely has properly ruled that the parties to this action were not parties to the arbitration provision (which fact is supported by the record), the Appellants argue that the misalignment of parties is cured by law that would make non-signatories bound by the agreement of their affiliates, and that the Respondents cannot disavow the arbitration provision because they have benefited by raising millions through the Subscription Agreements. To the former point, the Appellants articulate no clear theory as to how or why these parties are bound as non-signatories other than to state that in “an appropriate case” a non-signatory can enforce, or be bound by, an arbitration provision within a contract executed by other parties. The closest the Appellants come is to suggest that because parties affiliated with the Respondents allegedly benefited from the “Subscription Agreements,” they are estopped from arguing against having the same agreements enforced against them.

First, there is but one Subscription Agreement that is at issue here, and that is the Subscription Agreement that the Appellants entered in violation of the duties owed to their clients and the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct. To suggest that the Respondents have benefited from the Subscription Agreement is to turn a stunningly blind eye at the wreckage left behind in the wake of their unconscionable conduct. The Respondents have not benefited from the Subscription Agreement at issue here. The Respondents have not benefited from criminal proceedings in Spain. The Respondents have not benefited from being delayed in their plans to operate Aleia Roses. The Respondents have not benefited from being thrown into expensive and protracted legal proceedings to unwind and/or to mitigate the harm inflicted upon them by the Appellants. Respondents reject the idea that the Court of Appeals should sit as a court of equity and at first blush based on an undeveloped record (other than the facts pleaded in the Complaint

which are presumptively true) decide in equity that the Respondents are estopped from denying the enforceability of the arbitration provision.

Moreover, South Carolina has recognized five theories "'aris[ing] out of common law principles of contract and agency law' could provide a basis 'for binding nonsignatories to arbitration agreements: 1) incorporation by references; 2) assumption; 3) agency; 4) veil piercing/alter ego; and 5) estoppel.'" *Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp.*, 400 S.C. 281, 288, 733 S.E.2d 597, 601 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting *Int'l Paper Co. v. Schwabedissen Maschinen & Anlagen GMBH*, 206 F.3d 411, 416 (4th Cir. 2000)). In addition to these theories, some federal courts have recognized that a third-party beneficiary of a contract containing an arbitration clause may be compelled to arbitrate as a non-signatory. See *Bridas S.A.P.I.C. v. Gov't of Turkmenistan*, 345 F.3d 347 (5th Cir. 2003). Other than taking a half-hearted stab and an estoppel argument, the Appellants do not even articulate a legal basis recognized in South Carolina to bind non-signatories to arbitration agreements. Without debating the issue of whether South Carolina or Delaware law would control here on the issue of binding non-signatories to arbitration provisions, Delaware appears to recognize the same five theories as South Carolina and the result would be the same:

"It is not unusual for courts to require arbitration of claims involving parties who were not formally parties to an arbitration agreement, a situation that especially arises when affiliates of signatories are subject to or make claims. A non-signatory to a contract cannot be bound by an arbitration clause unless traditional principles of contract and agency law equitably confer upon that party signatory status with regard to the underlying agreement. Courts have recognized five theories for binding nonsignatories to arbitration agreements: 1) incorporation by reference; 2) assumption; 3) agency; 4) veil-piercing/alter ego; and 5) estoppel." *BuzzFeed, Inc. v. Anderson*, 2022 Del. Ch. Lexis 308, 2022 WL 15627216 (2022), Internal Citations Omitted.

Clearly, there was no agreement between the parties to arbitrate these disputes. There was certainly no agreement to arbitrate the damages resulting from the malpractice committed by the Appellants in obtaining an interest adverse to their client. And finally, there was certainly no

agreement to extend arbitration to non-signatories, nor would such extension be recognized under any existing theory of binding non-signatories.

As it relates to the arbitration that is ongoing, the Appellants' arguments evidence a fundamental misunderstanding of the arbitration's relationship to the malpractice claims. Per the allegations of the Complaint, the Appellants committed malpractice and the Respondents were harmed. The decision as to whether the Appellants actually acquired an interest by virtue of their "investment" through the Subscription Agreement will inform the scope of damages in the malpractice action. If the Appellants succeeded in acquiring an interest adverse to their client in violation of their duties and Rule 1.8, then the Respondents' damages in malpractice will include not only the loss of the value of the interest wrongfully obtained, but also the extraordinary legal expenses incurred, the delays caused by the Appellants in the Respondents ability to get the new operation in Spain online and related losses. If the Appellants did not so succeed in obtaining an interest, then the damages will be limited to the extraordinary legal expenses incurred, the delays caused by the Appellants in the Respondents ability to get the new operation in Spain online and the related losses. The damages caused by the malpractice are properly pleaded for a jury trial in Circuit Court. The issue of the ownership of the interest itself is a matter pending in arbitration.⁴

2. Lawyers may be able to compel their clients to arbitrate legal malpractice claims arising out of the attorney-client relationship under limited circumstances.

"It is permissible under the Model Rules to include in a retainer agreement with a client a provision that requires the binding arbitration of disputes concerning fees and malpractice claims,

⁴ The Appellants would contend that this Court has the ability to opine, and should so opine, on the impropriety of the Appellants ever having sought to acquire the interest and/or to go so far as to find that the Appellants should be estopped from continuing to seek an interest.

provided that the client has been fully apprised of the advantages and disadvantages of arbitration and has given her informed consent to the inclusion of the arbitration provision in the retainer agreement.” ABA Formal Opinion Number 02-425. The same sentiment is reflected in Comment 14 to Rule 1.8 which states that an agreement between lawyer and client to submit malpractice claims to arbitration does not violate Rule 1.8 “*if the agreement is legally enforceable and the client is fully informed of the scope and effect of the agreement.*” Emphasis supplied.

Even if the email fee agreement contained an arbitration provision – and it does not – and even if somehow the arbitration provision of the Subscription Agreement embraced these parties and the legal malpractice claims – and it does not – the record is absent **ANY** evidence that any of the Appellants apprised any of the Respondents of the scope and effect of the alleged agreement to arbitrate. Under Rule 1.8, a client’s “informed consent” would require a full disclosure of all risks and benefits associated with arbitrating malpractice claims. Therefore, a lawyer must advise clients of the rights they would relinquish in the arbitration process. For example, by agreeing to arbitrate future disputes, a client waives their rights to a jury trial, to significant discovery, and to the formal appeals process that is provided to litigants in Court. Also, unlike court, the parties will also be responsible for the arbitrators' fees and the costs of the arbitration process. Even in the presence of an actual written agreement to arbitrate, all of these issues must be explained to the client prior to signing an arbitration agreement to litigate future disputes. In this instance, the subject of arbitration was never even mentioned, much less disclosed through a thorough review of the pros and cons. Clearly and by any standard, the Respondents never gave “informed consent” to arbitrate disputes against their lawyers.

It is not this Court’s place to write the agreement for the parties, and it is certainly not this Court’s place to cure the failures of Appellants in the discharge of their professional and ethical

duties to their clients. Appellants' failures to abide by Rule 1.8 make the proposed enforcement of any contract the Appellants reply upon to force arbitration unconscionable under South Carolina law and thus, unenforceable. Respectfully, we do not think this Court should accept the invitation to write new and unprecedented law that would compel clients to arbitrate malpractice claims against their attorneys, not based upon "valid" arbitration provisions in written fee agreements, but based upon arbitration provisions contained within other corporate documents prepared by attorneys for their clients in violation of Rule 1.8.

3. The Circuit Court properly concluded that the email fee agreement between the parties did not include an agreement to arbitrate claims arising out of the attorney-client relationship.

Engagement of Full Moon Investments, LLC

George Campbell <george@campbellteague.com>
To: David Engle <engelcapitaladvisors@gmail.com>
Cc: Jordan Teague <jordan@campbellteague.com>

Thu, Nov 9, 2017 at 11:23 AM

David, thanks for your time this morning. This email confirms the engagement of our firm by Full Moon Investments, LLC to draft documents and assist in the negotiations contemplated by the term sheet you executed with Middlesex Integrative Medicine on October 30. We will bill at \$300 per hour and commit to investing at least 1/3 of our fees into the deal. Jordan Teague and I will be primarily responsible for the matter but may use the assistance of others when in your best interest. We will maintain regular contact with you, including updates on how much billable time we have accrued. Please reply to this email if I have correctly summarized our understanding.

If you have any other questions, please call or email me any time. I look forward to seeing you at the event this evening. Many thanks,
George



George Campbell
Campbell Teague LLC
(864) 326-4445
www.campbellteague.com
16 W North St., Greenville, SC 29601



THERE IS NO ARBITRATION PROVISION. THERE ARE NO RULE 1.8
DISCLOSURES.

CONCLUSION

The Appellant lawyers violated Rule 1.8 and the duties owed to their clients in seeking to obtain an interest in their clients' business, and then after having allegedly acquired an interest, in using the interest to oust their client from his business. The Appellants' conduct has been outrageous. Through a twisted application of law and logic, the Appellants urge the Court that they are entitled to the benefit of an arbitration provision found in one of the corporate control documents for an entity in which they unethically attempted to acquire an interest to shield them from a lawsuit seeking recompense for the very same wrongful acquisition. Unfortunately, for Appellants, the only agreement between the parties here that relates to the Appellants' provision of legal services to the Respondents is a single email – and it does not provide for arbitration. The Circuit Court correctly denied the Appellants' Motion to Compel Arbitration. The decision should stand.

Charleston, South Carolina
May 2, 2024

BLAND RICHTER, LLP
Attorneys for Respondents